



Factsheet

Getting help from the council as a carer

If you're supporting someone else as an unpaid carer, you might be able to get help from your local council. This factsheet looks at the carer's assessment – the process the council uses to work out whether you're entitled to support – and what support you might get.



Last review date: November 2023 Next review date: November 2025



About Independent Age

No one should face financial hardship in later life.

Independent Age is a national charity providing support for older people facing financial hardship. We offer free impartial advice and information on what matters most: money, housing and care.

We financially support local community organisations across the UK through our grants programme. We campaign for change for older people struggling with their finances.

You can call us on freephone **0800 319 6789** (Monday to Friday, 8.30am to 5.30pm) or email **helpline@independentage.org** to arrange to speak to one of our advisers.

To donate or help support our work, please visit independentage.org/support-us.

In this factsheet, you'll find reference to our other free publications. You can order them by calling **0800 319 6789** or by visiting **independentage.org/publications**.



Contents

1. Am I a carer?	4
2. What help you can get as a carer	7
3. What is a carer's assessment?	8
4. How to get a carer's assessment	9
5. Getting help from an independent advocate	12
6. Preparing for your carer's assessment	14
7. What happens at the assessment	16
8. How the council works out if you qualify for support	18
9. After your carer's assessment	22
10. What you might pay for support services	23
11. Self-directed support	24
12. Your support plan	27
13. What you can do if something goes wrong	30



1. Am I a carer?

A carer is someone who helps another person in their day-to-day life who would struggle to cope without their support. The person might need help because of a physical disability, mental health problem or because of their age, for example. When we talk about carers we mean carers who are unpaid, rather than those who provide care as their job or through a voluntary organisation.

You may be a carer because you've had to step in to support a spouse or partner, or an older relative or friend, who needs your help so that they can continue living in their own home. You don't have to live with the person you're caring for to be considered a carer.

You may help them to:

- wash and dress
- choose the right clothes to wear for example, reminding them to wrap up if it's a cold day
- use the toilet
- take their medication at the right time
- get regular healthy meals and enough to drink and/or feed themselves
- get around their home safely
- get to GP appointments or other appointments in the community
- see friends or family, or attend social activities
- keep their home clean and carry out household chores.

Caring doesn't just mean providing physical help. You might help them in other ways, such as:

- giving emotional support
- keeping an eye on them to make sure they're safe for example, by making sure they take their medication properly
- helping with budgeting and financial matters.



You may also be considered a carer if you intend to provide care – for example, if you plan to provide care for someone who will be unable to manage without your support in the future.

You might find it hard to judge whether you're a carer. For many people, they feel they're just looking after someone they care about in the same way they would expect or hope to be helped.

However, caring for someone in this way can bring challenges and it's important to seek out the help that's available. By identifying yourself as a carer, you're acknowledging the vital role you're playing in someone's life, and making sure you'll be able to continue caring in future.

An example

Janice lives with her sister Maureen. Maureen is registered blind and needs help with a number of day-to-day tasks, such as getting around their home safely, preparing meals, and opening and reading post. Janice is Maureen's carer.

An example

Gus visits his mum, Hanne, every day. She has severe depression. Gus provides emotional support, keeps her house clean and safe, and checks that she is taking her medication at the correct time. Gus is Hanne's carer.



An example

Jasmina had a stroke last year, which has affected her mobility. She lives with her husband, Paul, who is deaf. Paul carries out tasks Jasmina is no longer able to do, such as preparing food, shopping and helping her to get dressed. Jasmina helps Paul to communicate – for example, by attending medical appointments with him and alerting him when the doorbell rings. Jasmina and Paul are carers for each other.

An example

Irma finds it hard to stand for long periods of time and rarely leaves her house. Her neighbour, Sally, does some shopping for her once a week and regularly washes her bedding and clothes. She also visits her regularly for a chat, to make sure she gets some company. Irma's nephew, Adam, lives in a different part of the country. He visits when he can to help her with household chores and helps her to get to medical appointments. When Sally goes on holiday each year, Adam stays with his aunt for a longer period to help out. Sally and Adam are both carers for Irma.



2. What help you can get as a carer

Caring can be very rewarding but also challenging. Many people are very happy to provide care to people they're close to, but could probably still benefit from support.

As a carer, you may find you need:

- practical support with things such as shopping, housework and preparing food for you and your family. You might want to take regular or occasional breaks from caring so you can do things like attend your own medical appointments, see family and friends, or rest but worry that you'll be leaving your partner, friend or relative without support
- emotional support it's common to feel a mixture of emotions.
 While you may be happy to care for someone, at times you might also feel inadequate, frustrated, taken for granted, or guilty for feeling upset or resentful about the situation
- financial support this may be due to the extra costs of being a carer, such as added petrol costs from driving the person you care for to appointments. Your income may also have dropped if you're unable to carry on working or have had to reduce your working hours since becoming a carer
- **information** this could be information about what help is available to you or about how best to look after the person you care for.

It's important to recognise how you're feeling and any concerns you have. You may be entitled to help and support, and you shouldn't feel worried or unsure about asking for it.

In this factsheet, we'll look at the carer's assessment, also called an Adult Carer Support Plan in Scotland. This works out whether you qualify for help from your council as a carer.

If you'd like to know more about other help available, such as from charities and local support groups, read our guide **Caring for someone**.



3. What is a carer's assessment?

A carer's assessment, or Adult Carer Support Plan, is a free assessment of your needs as a carer that is carried out by your local council. It's a chance for you to talk about your caring responsibilities and how they affect you.

The council uses the carer's assessment to work out:

- whether you need support
- whether you're willing and able to carry on providing care
- the impact your caring role has on your physical and mental wellbeing
- what you want to achieve in your day-to-day life
- whether you qualify for help from the council.

Who can have a carer's assessment?

You have a right to a carer's assessment if you:

- provide unpaid necessary care for someone that's not part of your job
- need any level of support or may need it in the future.

Necessary care is when you're helping someone to carry out activities of daily living and they couldn't do them without your help. It doesn't matter how much care you provide, whether it's practical or emotional support, or what your financial situation is – you are entitled to an assessment.

You don't necessarily have to ask for a carer's assessment to get one. If the council is assessing the needs of the person you care for, they may pick up on your need for support. They can then carry out a joint assessment, with your permission – see **chapter 4**. If this hasn't happened, or the person you help hasn't had a care needs assessment, you should ask for a carer's assessment.



4. How to get a carer's assessment

To arrange an assessment, contact the adult social services department of your local council. If you live in a different area to the person you care for, you'll need to contact the local council for the area they live in. Their details should be in the phone book or you can find them online at qov.uk/find-local-council.

Joint assessments

If the person you look after hasn't had a care needs assessment, this can be carried out at the same time. This will work out what their care needs are and whether they qualify for council help. Read one of our factsheets to find out more:

- First steps in getting help with your care needs in England and Wales
- First steps in getting help with your care needs in Scotland.

Even if they don't qualify for any council help, you may still qualify for support as their carer.

You may prefer to have your assessment carried out separately to the assessment of the person you care for, so you can speak more openly, for example. A carer's assessment can be arranged:

- somewhere other than your home
- over the phone
- while the person you care for isn't there.



Good to know

You have a right to a carer's assessment and services to meet your assessed needs, even if the person you help isn't getting council support or has refused a care needs assessment or services.



Ways you can be assessed

Carer's assessments can be carried out face to face. But they may also take place over the phone or online.

The council might offer you a supported self-assessment if you're able to do this. It involves completing a questionnaire and then discussing what you've written with someone from the council. If you're interested in this but it hasn't been offered to you, ask your council's adult social services department about it.

You can also refuse a self-assessment and request a face-to-face or phone assessment instead – for example, if you're not sure how to explain what you do as a carer, it may be harder to fill out the questionnaire. You might find it easier to talk to an assessor directly instead. It's a good idea to get advice on supported self-assessments if you're not sure. Call our Helpline on **0800 319 6789** to arrange to speak to an adviser.

Although the person you care for can attend your carer's assessment, they do not have to be there. You can have someone else join you during your carer's assessment, such as a family member or friend. It could be helpful to bring someone who understands the effect that your caring role has had on your daily life. You can also have an independent advocate at the meeting, if you think it would be helpful (see **chapter 5**).

If you do want someone to come to the assessment, make sure to let the council know ahead of time.



Waiting times for carer's assessments

The council should tell you how long they expect it to take and keep you informed throughout the process. How long you wait will depend on the urgency of your situation.

If you need help urgently – for example, if the person you care for has become unwell and you can't cope on your own – emergency assessments can be arranged for you both. Tell the council if and why there's any particular urgency when you contact them to arrange an assessment. It's a good idea to do this in writing, if you can. In some urgent situations, your council may be able to arrange a temporary care package for the person you care for until an assessment can be arranged.



5. Getting help from an independent advocate

If you find it difficult to understand or remember information that is given to you or you have difficulty communicating your views and wishes, you may want to get help from an independent advocate.

An independent advocate is a trained person who can be involved in your carer's assessment. They can help you understand what the assessment is about and what is happening during the assessment. They can also help you to express your views and wishes and to challenge decisions. This is so you can be properly involved throughout the carer's assessment process.

You might also want to have an advocate if the council prepares or revises a support plan for you – see **chapter 12**.

Sometimes, the council may arrange an advocate for you. For example, if you live in Scotland and you have a learning disability, autism, dementia or a mental health issue, you have a legal right to an independent advocate.

If you don't qualify for an advocate through the council, you can still arrange to have an advocate involved if you want to, and if advocacy services are available locally. You can contact advocacy services directly. There may be a cost if you're arranging one yourself, so you should always get advice and check whether you qualify for a council-funded advocate first.

To find out more about advocacy, read our factsheet Helping you get your voice heard: Independent advocacy.





To do

Ask the council for details of local advocacy services. You can also search online on the Scottish Independent Advocacy Alliance (siaa.org.uk). The mental health charity Mind (mind.org.uk) can also put you in touch with local advocacy services in England and Wales.



6. Preparing for your carer's assessment

The council should provide you with information in advance to explain what will happen at the assessment. This should include a list of questions that will be covered.

Things to consider

It's easy to downplay your needs or feel you shouldn't complain. This is usually just the nature of caring for someone. We may feel that the care we give is a normal part of our lives and may not describe it as a caring role. But it's important to get support if you need it, and an assessment is your chance to talk about that. If you don't mention something important, you risk not getting the help you need.

You may want to think about how being a carer affects you, what might help and whether you want to carry on providing all the care you've been providing. Ask yourself:

- Are you getting enough sleep or is it disturbed by your caring role?
- Is your health affected? If so, how?
- Are you able to go out without worrying about the safety of the person you care for?
- Are your other relationships affected?
- Do you need information about what support and benefits are available?
- Is your caring role affecting your job, if you work?
- Would any equipment benefit the person you care for and help you care for them more safely?



- Do you need any training, say, in first aid or in moving and handling the person you care for?
- Do you want to spend less time in your caring role? You may wish to go back to work or attend a course or just have more time to yourself, for example.

A good tip is to keep a diary for one or two weeks. Write down everything you do to help the person you care for, including daytime and night-time help. You can show your diary to the assessor and ask them to take a copy of it. You can also just use it to jog your memory, so you don't forget to mention anything during your assessment.



To do

Don't forget to tell the council about any communication needs you have, so that adjustments can be made for you at your assessment, such as providing an interpreter or information in large print.



7. What happens at the assessment

A carer's assessment should look at:

- whether you're willing and able to continue providing the same level of care
- what you want to be able to achieve in your day-to-day life and whether your caring responsibilities are having any impact on this
- your needs for support as a carer
- the impact that caring has on your wellbeing
- whether your caring role is sustainable and any possible needs you may have in the future.

The assessment should take into account the amount of care you provide. The impact this has on you might not always be the same – for example, the condition of the person you are caring for may get worse at certain times. Your need for support may have to be considered over a period of time to take changing needs into account.

Looking at your need for support

One of the aims of the assessment is to look at the different areas of your life and work out where you might need some support. For example, the assessment should look at whether you are able to:

- provide care for someone else
- shop and prepare meals for yourself
- keep your home clean and safe
- get enough sleep
- see friends and family or socialise as much as you'd like to
- do the things you enjoy, including any hobbies, exercising or going on holiday
- work, study or volunteer, if you want to.



In England, being able to do each of these things is known as an 'outcome' - the carer's assessment looks at whether you are able to achieve these outcomes.

In Scotland, the council will also check if you are happy to continue caring for the person – they should not make assumptions.

In Wales, the council will also check whether you are able to:

- stay safe from abuse or neglect
- stay involved in the community
- continue caring responsibilities for a child.

You may have to put your case forward strongly if you feel that the council is underestimating your difficulties, or not including something you have difficulty with. It's okay to ask in the assessment whether they have written down everything you have said.

Looking at your wellbeing

The assessor should talk to you about the impact that being unable to do the things you would like in your daily life has on your wellbeing.

You'll usually be the best judge of your own wellbeing and need for support, and the council should take this into account. If being able to continue doing something or doing it in a particular way is important to you, make sure you tell the assessor.



8. How the council works out if you qualify for support

Depending on where you live, the council will use different criteria to work out if you qualify for support.

In England

The council uses national eligibility criteria to work out whether or not you should receive council support. You will qualify for support if your carer's assessment shows that the answer to all three of the following questions is 'yes'.

- Are your needs a result of caring for another adult who needs your help?
- Because of these needs, is your physical or mental health deteriorating (getting worse) or at risk of deteriorating, or are there any of the outcomes in chapter 7 that you're unable to achieve?
- Is this having, or is it likely to have, a significant impact on your wellbeing?



Good to know

The assessor must look at all the areas of your life and each one is equally important – for example, an assessor can't just look at whether you're able to eat well and keep your home safe and clean.

You'll be seen as being unable to achieve these outcomes if:

- you can't do them without help, or
- doing them without help would cause you a lot of pain, distress or anxiety, or
- doing them without help puts your, or other people's, health or safety at risk.



What 'a significant impact on your wellbeing' means

To get council support, it's not enough to show that you need support and are unable to do certain things because of your caring role. You must also show that this has a significant impact on your wellbeing. But what does this mean?

Wellbeing covers a lot of different areas, including your:

- personal relationships
- physical and mental health, and emotional wellbeing
- safety, and protection from abuse or neglect
- financial wellbeing
- housing situation
- control over your daily life
- participation in work, education, training or leisure activities
- ability to contribute to society
- dignity.

If your caring role could have a big effect on at least one of the areas of wellbeing, then this could be considered a significant impact. Or, if your role has a small effect on several of these areas of wellbeing, this could add up to a significant impact overall.

Using this as a basis, councils have to make their own overall judgement about whether your caring role has a significant impact on your wellbeing. This is personal to you and the impact may be different for people who are in similar circumstances. When they're making this decision, the council should consider what is most important to you for what you want and need to achieve in life. See **chapter 13** for information on what to do if you don't agree with the council's decision.



An example of someone who may not qualify

Pieter cares for his sister. This leaves him with little time for leisure activities. However, he describes himself as satisfied with the amount of time he has for himself. Friends and family visit regularly, which gives Pieter the company he wants. He also says that he's able and willing to carry on caring for his sister in this way. The council might decide that Pieter's caring needs don't have a significant impact on his wellbeing because, although his caring role takes up most of his time, he is happy with the amount of leisure time he has.

An example of someone who may qualify

Jane struggles to find time to exercise because she cares for both of her parents. She really enjoys swimming, and this also greatly eases the pain she suffers in her joints. For Jane, not having the time to exercise could be seen as having a significant impact on her physical wellbeing as well as her emotional wellbeing. This might not be the case for someone in very good health, or who does not enjoy exercising.

In Scotland

The council uses local eligibility criteria to work out whether or not you should receive council support. You are likely to qualify for support if your carer's assessment shows that there is, or will be, a 'significant impact' on your health and wellbeing or your ability to provide care.

In general, the council will look at what might happen if you don't get the support you need – the risk to you. There are five kinds of risk:

- none
- low
- moderate
- substantial
- critical.



'Critical' risk means that, if you do not get the support you need, it is likely you will not be able to continue caring for someone. The council should provide support if the risk is critical or substantial. However, each council has their own eligibility criteria and their own definition of each level of risk. Councils must publish their eligibility criteria – find your local council at mygov.scot/find-your-local-council to request a copy.

In Wales

There are national rules to help councils decide who is eligible for support, but it is up to each council to work out if you meet those rules. According to the national eligibility rules, you should qualify to receive support if you cannot meet your needs:

- alone
- with assistance from community services
- without support arranged by the council.



9. After your carer's assessment

After your assessment, the council should give you a written record of the assessment – ask if you don't get one. Check that the record is accurate and that everything relevant has been taken into account. You should also be given a copy of the decision about whether you qualify for support.

If you don't qualify for support

If you don't qualify for support from the council, they should provide information and advice about what can be done to meet or reduce your needs and to stop you developing new support needs in the future.

If you disagree with the council's decision, you might want to challenge it or make a complaint – for example, you might think the assessment isn't an accurate record of your needs. There's usually a time limit to challenging a decision, so you should get advice straightaway – see **chapter 13**.



Remember

If you don't qualify for support from the council, it doesn't mean you're not a carer. Other support may be available to you. Read our guide **Caring for someone** to find out more.

If you do qualify for support

If you qualify for help, the council might provide care and support to the person you care for, or provide you with support directly. This will be discussed with you, and with the person you care for, if necessary.

See **chapter 12** for more information on what support services might be available to you. You may be charged for support services – see **chapter 10** for more information.



10. What you might pay for support services

In England and Wales, you may be charged for support services. If you qualify for support from the council, you'll be given a financial assessment to work out what you can afford to pay based on your income and savings. However, councils are advised not to charge carers for support provided to them to recognise the valuable role that carers play in society. Any charges should not have a negative impact on your ability to look after yourself and the person you care for.

In Scotland, the council must not charge for any services you are assessed as needing.

Services for the person you care for

In England and Wales, the council must not charge you for care and support provided to the person you care for. You can only be charged for support provided directly to you. For example, if the person you care for agrees to have replacement care to give you a break, you should not pay for this. The person you care for may be charged though – they would be given a financial assessment to work out how much they should pay. Read our guides Paying for care at home in England and Wales or Paying care home fees in England and Wales to find out more about how they might be charged (there are separate versions of these guides if you live in Scotland).

In Scotland, it is up to the council to decide if or when you should be charged for care and support provided to the person you care for. Contact your local council for more information.

Arranging your care

If the council is paying all or some of your support costs, they should work with you to create a support plan (see **chapter 12**) showing how your needs should be met.



11. Self-directed support

This means that you are involved in planning your own support services.

The council must work with you to put together a support plan (see **chapter 12**) and decide how the money that you have been allocated from the council will be spent. For example, if your support plan says you need support to take part in activities you enjoy, you should have a say in what you use that money for.

Personal budgets in England

In England, the council must also tell you how much money they calculate is needed overall to meet all your assessed support needs. This is called your personal budget and is the total of:

- any amount that the financial assessment found you would have to pay towards your support (if the council charges carers for support services)
- any amount that the council must pay towards your support as a carer.

Everyone who qualifies for financial help from the council has a right to be told what their personal budget is.

What the council must do

The council must:

- be clear about how they calculated your personal budget
- make sure that the budget is high enough to meet your assessed support needs
- consider the local cost of the type of services you need
- tell you what your estimated personal budget is at the start of the support-planning process, so that you can start planning your support knowing how much money is likely to be available
- increase your personal budget if it becomes clear that the amount in the estimated budget isn't enough to meet your needs.



If your support will be provided through a service to the person you care for – such as replacement care to give you a break from caring – this must be included in the personal budget of the person you care for, not yours.

Options for self-directed support

There are four options for self-directed support:

- Option 1 You receive a direct payment to spend on the services that the council assessed you as needing. This option gives you the most control over the support you receive.
- Option 2 You do not receive a direct payment, but you are still involved in decisions – for example, you could choose which organisation you would like to provide your support. The council will then arrange that care. With this option, you have control over the kind of support you will receive, but you are not responsible for arranging that support.
- Option 3 The council chooses and arranges your support. This
 option means you have very little responsibility or control over the
 kind of support you receive.
- Option 4 A combination of the above options. You will be able to decide what you would like to control and what you would like the council to control.

Regardless of the option you choose, the support you receive should help meet the needs outlined in your support plan (see **chapter 12**).



Direct payments

If the council is going to contribute towards the costs of your support services, you can choose to receive their part as a direct payment. This means you'd receive money from them to buy services yourself, rather than receiving services from or arranged by the council.

Direct payments can give you more choice and control over your support. You can arrange it in ways that you feel are best to meet your eligible needs – for example, you could directly employ someone to provide services, which might give you more flexibility over when you get support. Your council may also fund a local scheme that provides support for people using direct payments – ask them about the options in your area.

You can't use your direct payment to buy services to meet the needs of the person you care for. The money must only be used to meet your own needs.

You should get advice about whether or not it's the best option for you. Even if you decide to make arrangements yourself, you should still be given information and advice about the local services that can help to meet your needs.

Read our factsheet **Direct payments** for more information. Or, call our Helpline on **0800 319 6789** to arrange to speak to an adviser.



12. Your support plan

If the council is arranging support services for you, or paying you a direct payment so you can do so yourself, they must develop a written support plan with you. This sets out how your needs will be met.

You must be fully involved in putting this plan together. The council must also involve the person you are caring for, if you wish, and anyone else you ask to be involved. You may be entitled to help from an independent advocate while the plan is being written or reviewed (see **chapter 5**).

What should be in your plan

The support plan should include:

- which of your needs qualify for support (eligible needs)
- which needs will be met by the council and how
- how the support services will help you to achieve what you want to in your day-to-day life and help your wellbeing
- what your personal budget is (in England)
- how to prevent or delay your needs from getting any worse
- whether any of your needs will be met by a direct payment (see chapter 11), how much the direct payment is and how often it will be paid to you
- plans to regularly check how needs are being met (in Wales)
- an arrangment to hold support plan reviews (in Scotland and Wales).



Agreeing your plan

The council should do what they can to agree your final support plan with you. Ask for a copy of it if you don't get one.

If you don't think your support plan fully meets your needs, raise any concerns with the assessor. You may want to add more information or suggest a change.



Good to know

In England and Wales, if a care and support plan is also being developed for the person you care for, the council should consider combining the plans, if appropriate. You and the person you care for both need to agree to this.

Putting together your support plan

The council should provide information about the services available in your local area, including (where possible) how much they cost.

Councils are not limited to meeting your needs in set ways. The types of services they suggest will depend on your needs, but might include:

- practical help with things like housework or gardening
- advice about benefits
- emotional support, such as counselling and help to relieve stress
- support to improve your wellbeing and take part in leisure activities, such as gym membership or classes
- training to feel more confident in your caring role, such as training in moving and handling
- emotional support from other carers, such as attending a local carers' group
- breaks from caring.



If your support plan is not meeting your assessed support needs, contact your council as soon as possible. They must sort out the problem. This may include carrying out a review or taking urgent action if necessary.



To do

Read our guide **Caring for someone** to find out what other support might be available, such as financial support from Carer's Allowance (Carers Support Payment in Scotland) or help from charities.



13. What you can do if something goes wrong

You may be unhappy with the council for a number of reasons, for example, if:

- you've been waiting a long time for a carer's assessment
- the council has refused to carry out an assessment for you
- you don't agree with the type of support the council has offered you
- the council has refused to provide support without a good reason
- you've been waiting a long time for a decision
- you don't agree with the amount of money that the council has allocated to meet your needs.

Sometimes, problems can be sorted by talking to your social worker or their manager. But, if this doesn't work, you have other options.

There are two main ways of trying to resolve disagreements:

- making a complaint
- using a solicitor to pursue a legal case.

If you live in England, you must make a complaint within 12 months of the problem occurring or of you becoming aware of it, although it's usually better to start as soon as possible. Councils must then respond within a certain timeframe, which is set out in their complaints policy. If you're unhappy with the outcome of your complaint, you may be able to take it to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (0300 061 0614, lgo.org.uk).

In Scotland, you should raise any complaints with the council within six months of you becoming aware of the problem. Each council has their own complaints handling procedure. If you're unhappy with the outcome of your complaint, you may be able to take it to the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman if it is still within 12 months of you becoming aware of the problem (0800 377 7330, spso.org.uk/spso).



If you live in Wales, you must make a complaint to the social services department within 12 months of the problem occurring or of you becoming aware of it. If you're unhappy with the outcome of your complaint, you may be able to take it to the Public Services Ombudsman (0300 790 0203, ombudsman.wales).

In all three nations, if you decide to pursue a legal case, the time limit is much shorter. If it becomes necessary to start court proceedings, you're likely to need a judicial review. Judicial reviews must be started within three months of the date when there were first grounds for a legal challenge. There's usually a cost to pursing a legal case — but, you may qualify for legal aid to help towards legal costs, depending on your circumstances. If you want specialist legal advice, you'll need to look for a community care solicitor.

For more information about making complaints or pursuing legal cases, read our factsheet **Complaints about social care services**.



Remember

It's important not to miss any deadlines, especially if you're considering legal action. If you want to complain, it may be best to consider doing this at the same time as getting legal advice so you don't miss the deadlines. For more advice, call our Helpline (0800 319 6789) to arrange to speak to an adviser.



While we make every reasonable effort to ensure that our information is accurate at the time of publication, information can change over time. Our information should not be used as a substitute for professional advice. Independent Age does not accept any liability for any loss however caused arising from the use of the information within this publication. Please note that the inclusion of other organisations does not constitute an endorsement from us.

The sources used to create this publication are available on request. Contact us using the details below.

Thank you

Independent Age would like to thank those who shared their experiences as this information was being developed, and those who reviewed the information for us.

How did we do?

To tell us what you think of our information, contact us using the details below. We will use your feedback to help us plan future changes to our publications.

If you would like to be involved in helping us to develop our information products, you can join our Readers' Panel. For more information, visit **independentage.org/readers-panel** or call us.

Other formats

If you need this information in a different format – such as large print or audio CD – please contact us.

Contact us

Call **0800 319 6789**

Email helpline@independentage.org

Visit independentage.org